ORIGINAL
RECEIVED

MAR 12 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LAURI DANIELLE HOLLIS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213139

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal where the state's best evidence was that appellant remarked to someone in the common grounds of the apartment complex that the decedent was a "snitch," since this statement, even if heard and acted on, did not make appellant an aider and abettor and therefore responsible for the decedent's death where another man shot the decedent?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for the offenses of murder and armed robbery. Her case came on for trial on October 1, 2012 before the Honorable Roger L. Couch, and a jury. Appellant Hollis was tried together with Charles L. Anderson, Jr., who faced the same charges in the decedent's death. Ryan McCarty represented appellant. Christopher Thompson represented co-defendant Anderson. R. 1.

At the conclusion of the trial on October 4, 2012, the jury found co-defendant Anderson and appellant guilty of murder and armed robbery. R. 427, l. 20 – 428, l. 10. Judge Couch sentenced appellant to thirty years imprisonment concurrent for both murder and armed robbery. R. 430, ll. 1-6. Judge Couch sentenced co-defendant Anderson to life imprisonment for murder and thirty years imprisonment for armed robbery. Supp. R. 3, ll. 1-24 ; R. 431, ll.1-7.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The court erred by refusing to direct a verdict of acquittal where the state's best evidence was that appellant remarked to someone in the common grounds of the apartment complex that the decedent was a "snitch," since this statement, even if heard and acted on, did not make appellant an aider and abettor and therefore responsible for the decedent's death or his robbery where another man shot the decedent.

Relevant Facts

In his opening statement, Defense Counsel McCarty addressed Assistant Solicitor Gray's opening remarks urging Appellant Lauri Hollis was guilty under "the hand of one is the hand of all." R. 15, ll.10-13. Counsel McCarty said: "Now, when Mr. Gray was up here, he referred to 'they,' [and] 'somebody.' It's more than that. It's more than just a carte blanche statement of the hand of one is the hand of all." McCarty told the jurors at "none of the evidence" would prove Appellant Hollis participated in the murder and robbery of the decedent. R. 18, l. 5 – 19, l. 20.

Spartanburg police officer William Foster responded to a "shots fired" dispatch on April 7, 2011 at the Oakview Apartments in Spartanburg. Foster testified that there was "a lot of people floating around," but maintained the police got better control as "we got more officers on the scene." R. 21, ll. 5-9; R. 28, ll. 23..

Officer Shane Morrow also responded to Oakview Apartment shooting. He remembered: "A large group of people standing around, milling around the area. I backed up everybody. I had to tell them a couple of times 'this is a crime scene. You need to back away,' as we were rendering aid to the individual." Morrow said he had to tell the crowd of people "to back up a couple of times." The decedent, Means, was shot in the area near

Apartment 208 and was laying face down. R. 39, ll. 18-21. No suspects were developed at the time. R. 40, ll. 7-11. Morrow said people were just "saying they didn't see anything." R. 40, ll. 8-11.

The state's evidence in their attempt to convict Appellant Hollis of being responsible for the decedent's death was the often contradictory testimony of seventeen-year-old Molly B. Molly B. originally told the police that: "I went into the apartment. I did not see anyone standing in front of her apartment or see anyone arguing. I was on the downstairs couch holding a baby. Latrica [her friend] was upstairs and I think the other girl named Tara and Tiera was in the kitchen. I heard something that sounded like a gunshot. I did not think that it was a gun. I went to the door and opened it to look outside. That is when I saw the guy on the grass bent over." R. 93, ll. 2-13.

When defense counsel later moved for a directed verdict, he reminded the judge of the evidence that appellant was a resident of Oakview Apartments, and of testimony appellant was seen outside the apartment complex, her home, that day two hours before the shooting. R. 331, l. 13 – 332, l. 3.

Molly B. drove a black Mercedes SUV. She went over to the Oakview Apartments because her friend Latrica Martin lived there. Molly B. acknowledged she did not "live anywhere near Oakview Apartments." R. 66, l. 23 – 68, l. 5.

On the day the decedent was shot, Molly B. was at the apartment complex. She remembered that she took Latrica to the Little Cricket store down the road "and some guy needed a ride, Mr. Gaze, who wanted to get dropped off. And we took him." R. 68, l. 3 – 69, l. 21.

Molly B. testified that there were about four people standing near her car when they returned to the apartment complex. She named three of them as being "Dee, Danielle [Appellant Hollis], and J. P." R. 70, ll. 1-10. In contrast to what she had told the police

Molly B. testified at trial:

She [Appellant Hollis] had asked why I didn't get her anything to eat because we had a McDonald's bag. And then she started talking about some dude and was talking about how -- **I didn't really catch on to it**; she was just like something about they were about to get somebody because somebody **had snitched** on somebody.

And I was like, "What are you talking about?" And, then, like she just walked away from the car.

R. 70, ll. 16-23.

Molly B continued:

I saw a guy walking from another apartment down towards the fence. And like she was smacking at her face. And, then, the guys over here were kind of -- they were ganging up in front of my car. They were coming together with her.

And she was acting like a bug was flying around or something. I'm not sure. Then, I looked down at -- because I had a touchscreen navigation system and I looked down at it.

And, then, I looked back up and saw those guys. They were getting closer together. And I didn't really know what was going on.

I look back down at my radio. And, then, I heard a gunshot. And I looked up and he was falling to the ground and everybody was just kind of moving, like running away.

R. 71, l. 14 – 72, l. 2.

When asked how close appellant was to the man who got shot, Molly B. did not give a specific answer. She said there were at least four people around the decedent as he fell to

the ground. "They were just all like in a circle. And then they scattered, like a circle around him." R. 72, ll. 3-15. Upon questioning by the solicitor the following occurred:

Q. And do you recall what she said before this gentleman was shot?

A. She was talking about getting somebody, said that they been looking for somebody because he snitched and -- on somebody. I'm not really sure.

Q. Was she talking or was she yelling?

A. **No, she was just telling me and Latrica.**

Q. All right. Did she say anything that this gentleman might be the snitch or whatever?

A. No. I mean, but I guess that's who she was talking about obviously.

R. 72, l. 16 – 73, l. 1. (emphasis added)

Molly B. said appellant did not have a gun but she pointed to Charles Anderson in the courtroom, whom she did not know, as a man she saw with a gun in his hand. Molly B. said no one else out there that day had a gun other than Anderson. R. 73, l. 10 – 74, l. 16. Molly B. said people ran after the shooting but she could not say they all ran in the same direction. R. 74, l. 20 – 75, l. 3.

The solicitor also questioned Molly B. about appellant's hairstyle and Molly B. answered appellant had "dreads I think - - yeah, they were dreads." R. 75, ll. 17-19. The import of this was that appellant's change of her hairstyle at some time after the shooting was evidence of guilty knowledge. However, as will be seen *infra*, appellant voluntarily went to the police station to talk with the police when she found out the police considered her a possible suspect in this case. R. 285, ll. 12-20; R. 303, l. 17 – 304, l. 2; R. 313, l. 9 – 314, l. 7.

As to her trial version of what she witnessed, Molly B. admitted she was looking down at the time of the shooting and that when she looked back up “everybody was scattering away.” Molly B. acknowledged she did not witness the shooting. R. 95, l. 19 – 96, l. 15.

Investigator Brian Stokes admitted that Molly B.’s statements “changed from the time you initially spoke with her.” R. 311, ll. 2-5. In response to one question on cross-examination Stokes said he thought Molly B may have been “under the influence” when she first talked to the police. However, Stokes was cut off for speculating before he could continue trying to explain her inconsistencies. R. 310, ll. 19-24.

Anthony Kelly was the decedent’s cousin. R. 111, ll. 22-25. Kelly said the decedent wore a gold necklace “that he had bought specially made for him. It was Stewie from the The Family Guy TV show. And it had different colored rubies in it . . .” Kelly said the decedent wore this necklace every day. R. 113, ll. 16-24.

Kelly said he knew Appellant Hollis and saw her on a regular basis. “And she used to play with my cousins and my little boy. And, you know, played basketball for a while or whatever. She seemed like she was a decent person.” R. 114, ll. 11-18.

Kelly claimed he saw appellant at a large party the next weekend. He maintained she was wearing the “Stewie” necklace. R. 117, l. 25 – 119, l. 3.

On cross-examination Kelly was asked: “Why did you wait 544 days to come in here and tell what you just told here regarding Ms. Hollis?” Kelly said: “I wasn’t around when it actually happened. So the police, I guess why they didn’t get in contact with me or whatever.” R. 119, ll. 19-24. Kelly then claimed he had talked to the solicitor and said: “I’ve been coming up ever since this started.” R. 120, ll. 6-7.

Investigator Brian Stokes acknowledged that appellant “came and turned herself in once . . . the information was put out to the news media who we were seeking for the - - for the crime. And Ms. Hollis was the first to turn herself in.” Conversely “Mr. Anderson was arrested and brought to City Hall.” R. 285, ll. 12-20; R. 303, l. 17 – 304, l. 2; R. 313, l. 9 – 314, l. 7.

Officer Christopher Layton testified that appellant’s mother gave him a shirt when he executed a search warrant of her house. The shirt was taken from a Ford Expedition outside of the house, and he “assumed” she got the shirt from appellant. Layton also said he took “a pair of Khaki shorts and a belt.” R. 192, l. 13 – 194, l. 21.

SLED analyst Ila Simmons testified that gunshot residue was found on the shirt. Simmons admitted that gunshot residue could be found on clothing from being near the “cloud of smoke” when a gun was fired. Simmons stated that she could not tell how long the residue had been on the shirt, or from what gun, or whether from the crime scene in this case, and she acknowledged such residue would remain on the shirt until it was washed. R. 223, 10 – 226, l. 17.

Defense counsel moved for a directed verdict of acquittal on murder and armed robbery counts. Defense Counsel McCarty argued: “The only testimony relating to what occurred around this supposed robbery was that of Molly [B.]’s. And she said she looked down at her GPS unit in her car, heard the shot, and looked back up.” McCarty also noted the testimony of the witness that appellant was supposedly wearing the decedent’s necklace three or four days later. The evidence was circumstantial since there was no direct evidence linking appellant to the shooting. R. 324, l. 13 – 326, l. 9.

McCarty further attacked the state's theory on the "hand of one is the hand of all." McCarty argued that Molly B. had said something to them about the victim being a snitch, but even that did not denote the prior agreement or her being part of a common scheme or plan to rob or kill the decedent. McCarty said even if a person had prior knowledge that someone else may commit a crime and they are present at the time a crime is committed that that was not sufficient to convict them as a principal. R. 323, l. 1 – 325, l. 23. McCarty argued the state's alleged theory that this was a "hand of one hand of all" case was hopelessly faulty. R. 324, l. 13 – 326, l. 9.

The solicitor said the common scheme or plan "intention" could have been formed one minute beforehand or twenty four hours beforehand. The solicitor argued that appellant talked to Molly B. and said the decedent was a snitch. He claimed: "She sets things in motion," and he argued Anderson shot the decedent and appellant took the jewelry from the decedent. R. 326, l. 11 – 327, l. 14.

The judge said his recollection was the statement about a snitch was made to Molly B. He said he did not recall anyone else hearing that comment. The solicitor confirmed that the judge was correct. The judge also observed that even if a person knew a crime was about to be committed they had to do some overt act in furtherance of the crime. The solicitor again agreed. R. 327, l. 15 – 328, l. 9.

McCarty repeated that "mere presence" at the crime scene and even knowledge that a crime might occur were both insufficient basis on which to convict Appellant Hollis in the murder and armed robbery. R. 328, l. 12 – 329, l. 22. As stated above, defense counsel noted that appellant was as resident of Oakview Apartments. Defense counsel said that to argue her presence there proved some scheme "to get" the decedent was incorrect.

Appellant. R. 331, l. 10 – 332, l. 3. The judge stated the fact that there was testimony appellant was in possession of recently stolen good was enough to take the armed robbery charge to the jury. The judge said he was very concerned about the murder charge and he took it under advisement. R. 332, ll. 4-19.

When court resumed the judge said he had reviewed the testimony of Molly B. and found it sufficient to get beyond a directed verdict motion on whether Appellant Hollis may have participated in limiting “the movements of the victim allegedly. And there is sufficient evidence or circumstantial evidence to justify the case going to trial - - or going to the jury both on the charge of murder and armed robbery in both cases.” R. 333, ll. 6-15.

After appellant was convicted the solicitor again focused on appellant allegedly calling the decedent a “snitch,” stating: “I understand she is less culpable than Mr. Anderson, but I also understand if - - if she had not did what she did, **Mr. Means may still be here today.**” Supp. R. 2, ll. 4-6. (emphasis added)

Discussion

The judge erred by refusing to direct a verdict since there was no direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence appellant aided and abetted in the murder and robbery of the decedent. Molly B’s trial testimony was that she was outside and appellant approached her and her friend and asked her why she did not get appellant a hamburger from McDonald’s. Molly B. allegedly heard appellant, apparently when seeing the decedent outside, state that the decedent was a snitch. After that Molly B. stated appellant walked away and “like she was smacking at her face . . . she was acting like a bug flying around or something. I’m not sure.” After these vague statements Molly B. stated she was looking down at her phone when she heard a gunshot.” R. 70, l. 11 – 72, l. 20. She did not

remember how much time passed between appellant “swatting her hand” and hearing a gunshot. R. 85, ll. 16-23.

This is the evidence in the light most favorable to the state. It did not provide the direct or substantial circumstantial evidence required to overcome a motion for a directed verdict.

The state’s case was that because appellant stated to Molly B. that the decedent was a snitch, and walked away “smacking at her face” that this was substantial circumstantial evidence appellant was aiding and abetting in the armed robbery and murder of the decedent. It was not. State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 541 S.E.2d 254 (2001). The state’s case on the robbery was that because appellant allegedly was wearing the decedent’s stolen necklace three or four days later that was substantial circumstantial evidence she was guilty of armed robbery. It was not. State v. Rothschild, 351 S.C. 238, 569 S.E.2d 346 (2002); State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 562 S.E.2d 313 (2002). “Mere suspicion” of guilt is insufficient to take the case to the jury, and beyond a directed verdict motion. State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 541 S.E.2d 254 (2001).

In State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011), the Supreme Court held the state failed to produce substantial circumstantial evidence Bostick killed his neighbor, Ms. Polite, and set her house on fire. The state’s case was that Ms. Polite worked at her church and always brought the collection proceeds home on Sunday afternoon. The state presented evidence that investigators found personal items, burned by an accelerant, including a watch and two sets of car keys belonging to Ms. Polite in a burn pile on Bostick’s next door property. Bostick’s mother testified she never used accelerants in the burn pile.

The Supreme Court noted that the evidence above as well as the fact Bostick had a pattern of gasoline on his shoes and gasoline was the accelerant used to start the fire at the Polite home. The Court held this evidence raised a suspicion that Bostick may have been guilty but it was not sufficient for the case to have gone to the jury.

Earlier, and similarly, in State v. Martin, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000) the Supreme Court held that the state's circumstantial evidence against Martin was insufficient to take the case to the jury. In Martin the defendant borrowed his girlfriend's car which was later placed near the scene of the murder.

On the morning after the murder the manager of a restaurant found several bags of garbage near the bar where defendant Martin and co-defendant Wilson picked up Martin's girlfriend late the prior night. Inside the trash were items belonging to the victim. Also found were inside were latex gloves similar to those Martin's girlfriend used to clean her dogs.

When Martin girlfriend's asked him why he and co-defendant Wilson were so late in picking her up from the bar, defendant Martin replied "some shit happened" and co-defendant Wilson added "someone may have died tonight."

The Supreme Court held that this circumstantial evidence was not substantial circumstantial evidence, and it was insufficient to take the case to the jury. The Court in Martin cited State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 322 S.E.2d 450 (1984) which was a case which provided a strong suspicion of the defendant's guilt.

In State v. Schrock, Schrock admitted to the police that he smoked Marlboro brand cigarettes – the same brand as the cigarette butts found at the murder scene. However, a saliva test could not match a cigarette butt to the defendant. A similar footprint to Schrock's

was found at the scene and nearby the scene. Schrock apparently later disposed of the clothes and shoes he had been wearing and he did not present an alibi. This Court held this evidence only raised a suspicion of Schrock's guilt and that he was entitled to a directed verdict.

In State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004), the Supreme Court affirmed the holding of the Court of Appeals that a directed verdict should have been issued. The victim, Cox, was shot, and his body found off of a road in Colleton County. On the last day Cox was seen alive he borrowed a friend's BMW Z3 to go to the dentist's office. The car was found in a parking lot in Johnson City, Tennessee and there was evidence the defendant telephoned a friend from 10 miles away from the car. The defendant's fingerprints were found inside the car. This Court reasoned the state only proved that the defendant was in the BMW on the last day that Cox was seen alive, and that was insufficient evidence to make this a jury question.

In State v. Lane, Op. No. 5175, Shearouse's Adv. Sh. #43, at 17-22 (filed October 9, 2013), this Court held a directed verdict of acquittal should have been issued in a burglary case. This Court found the evidence against Lane was: (1) a burgundy/red "Mitsubishi Gallant-type car" was in the victim's driveway the day of the theft; (2) At times Lane drove a red/burgundy Mitsubishi Gallant belonging to his girlfriend; (3) Lane drove the Gallant the day of the theft; (4) a folded piece of paper belonging to Lane was found in the victim's driveway that was not found by the police search, but was found later; (5) Lane did not want to talk to the police on the day after the theft; and, (6) Lane asked his girlfriend's mother to lie to the police about his whereabouts.

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