ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

Roger L. Couch, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

LAURI DANIELLE HOLLIS,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2012-213139.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYCIE S. TIMMONS
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 100237

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0265

BARRY BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Circuit
180 Magnolia St.
Spartanburg, SC 29306
(864) 596-2575

RECEIVED

MAR 12 2014

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

The trial court, viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State, did not err in denying Appellant's motion for directed verdict where substantial circumstantial evidence existed tending to prove the guilt of Appellant as to both murder and armed robbery.

Introduction

Respondent submits that the following evidence, which was presented to the jury, constitutes substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant is guilty of aiding or abetting in Victim's murder and of armed robbery:

- Molly B.'s testimony that prior to Victim being shot Appellant told Molly B. that "they were about to get somebody because somebody had snitched on somebody[:]"
- Molly B.'s testimony that, as Victim was coming from another apartment, a group of guys, who Appellant had been talking to earlier, came together with Appellant in front of Molly B.'s car;
- Molly B.'s testimony that the group surrounded Victim and then a gunshot went off and the group scattered;
- other eyewitness testimony that a heavysset person with dreadlocks was involved in the shooting;
- evidence that Appellant had dreadlocks at the time of the shooting but shaved her head soon after;
- evidence that a shirt belonging to Appellant and retrieved by police just days after the shooting had round, lead particles on it, consistent with gunshot residue;

- evidence that Victim was wearing a recognizable necklace with a Stewie charm on it immediately prior to the shooting but that the necklace was gone immediately after he was shot and that Appellant was seen wearing the same Stewie charm two days later.

Viewing the facts and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State, the State has done more than “raise[] a suspicion that the accused is guilty.” *State v. Odems*, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011).

Standard of Review

In reviewing a motion for a directed verdict, the trial judge is concerned with the existence of evidence, not with its weight. *State v. Curtis*, 356 S.C. 622, 633, 591 S.E.2d 600, 605 (2004) (citing *State v. Mitchell*, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000)). In an appeal from the denial of a directed verdict motion, the appellate court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. *Id.* (citing *State v. Burdette*, 335 S.C. 34, 46, 515 S.E.2d 525, 531 (1999)). “If there is any direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the Court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” *Id.* (citing *State v. Pinckney*, 339 S.C. 346, 349, 529 S.E.2d 526, 527 (2000)). “Unless there is a total failure of competent evidence as to the charges alleged, refusal by the trial judge to direct a verdict of acquittal is not error.” *State v. Arnold*, 361 S.C. 386, 389, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004).

How the Issue Was Raised at Trial

At the close of the State’s case, Appellant’s counsel moved for a directed verdict on the armed robbery charge and asserted that the State had not met its burden because it had not presented any witness who saw anyone removing anything from Victim or taking and carrying

away anything from Victim. (R. p. 322, line 16–p. 323, line 25). Additionally, counsel pointed out that the State had not introduced any physical evidence, such as the necklace, that belonged to Victim but was not recovered from Appellant or anyone else. (R. p. 323, lines 16–22). Thus, counsel argued that there was insufficient evidence to go forward on the charge of armed robbery. (R. p. 323, lines 23–25).

Additionally, Appellant’s counsel moved for a directed verdict on the murder charge.

Counsel made the following arguments before the trial court:

Your Honor, with regard to the hand of one is the hand of all, as the Court knows on—and I’m referencing the *Franklin* (phonetic) case from 1989, a State Supreme Court case, but in that they’re talking about the prior knowledge of a crime.

Even if you know that it’s going to be committed, without more it’s not sufficient to make a person guilty of that crime.

“Mere knowledge that another person is going to commit a crime, even if they are present when the crime is committed, is not sufficient to convict them as a principal.

“Guilt as a principal must be shown by actual, constructive presence at a scene as a result of a prior arrangement. Therefore, a finding of a prior arrangement, plan, or common scheme, is necessary to find guilt as a principal.”

Your Honor, in this case—and, again, I—what I read there was a—a request for charge that I had which came out of the request for charge publication that they submit throughout the bar and we’re able to purchase. And that’s quoting the *Franklin* case from 1989.

But, in this situation here as well, Your Honor, I don’t know that the State again has put forth and met its burden of proof as far as satisfying every element of the crime to—of murder under the accomplice liability theory to show to submit it to the jury for consideration, in that, they have established that there’s no prior arrangement;

That there is no theme or motive or anything like that which places her there and even participated and helped set it up or, by prior arrangement, be there.

The only testimony that Molly [B.] provided was that apparently or supposedly Ms. Hollis said to her something about they are going to get Mister—or they’re going to get the victim something about a snitch, to that effect.

That doesn't denote a prior arrangement as to her reason for being there. It doesn't denote anything as far as her being part of a scheme or a plan to execute this.

And, therefore, I think the State has failed to meet its burden of proof regarding the elements of this offense to charge her under accomplice liability as the hand of one is the hand of all.

(R. p.324, line 8–p. 326, line 2).

In response, the State asserted that it had presented enough evidence from which the jury could convict Appellant of both the armed robbery and of the murder, and the State asked the court to deny the motion. (R. p. 326, line 11–p. 328, line 1). Counsel for the State mentioned Molly B.'s testimony that Appellant and a group of guys came up to Victim and surrounded him, restricting his movements, before he was shot. (R. p. 327, line 21–p. 331, line 2). Appellant's counsel again argued that the State had not presented sufficient evidence to meet the elements of the crime and further pointed out that Appellant's presence at the crime scene could be explained as she was a resident of the Oakview Apartments. (R. p. 328, line 12–p. 332, line 3).

The court found that the State had presented sufficient evidence on the armed robbery charge. (R. p. 332, lines 4–14). Then the court took a short recess to review Molly B.'s testimony before ultimately finding "that the testimony [was] sufficient to indicate that the Defendant, Ms. Hollis, may have participated in an effort to restrict the movements of the victim allegedly." (R. p. 332, line 15–p. 333, line 10). Thus, the court found that there was sufficient evidence to go to the jury on both the murder and armed robbery charges. (R. p. 333, lines 11–14).

After Appellant's co-defendant presented his case, Appellant's counsel asked the court to reconsider his earlier motions. (R. p. 344, line 24–p. 346, line 4). The court stated that it reconsidered the motions and that its rulings would be the same. (R. p. 346, lines 5–7).

Analysis

In her brief, Appellant cites a number of South Carolina Supreme Court cases where the court found directed verdicts warranted based on the evidence that had been presented by the State. *See State v. Bostick*, 392 S.C. 134, 708 S.E.2d 774 (2011); *State v. Arnold*, 361 S.C. 386, 605 S.E.2d 529 (2004); *State v. Martin*, 340 S.C. 597, 533 S.E.2d 572 (2000); *State v. Schrock*, 283 S.C. 129, 322 S.E.2d 450 (1984). Respondent respectfully asserts that the evidence presented by the State in Appellant's case far exceeds that presented in the cases cited by Appellant.

In *State v. Bostick*, the victim was found bludgeoned in her house, which had been set ablaze. 392 S.C. at 136, 708 S.E.2d at 775. The court recited the following evidence that had been presented against Bostick:

- (1) [victim's] car keys, calculator, and other items from her home were found in the Bostick family's burn pile;
- (2) the fire in the burn pile was accelerated with either kerosene or diesel fuel, and Bostick's mother did not use those accelerants when she burned things in the pile;
- (3) Bostick had a pattern that matched gasoline on his shoes and gasoline was the accelerant use for the house fire; and
- (4) while the DNA from the blood on Bostick's jeans excluded about ninety-nine percent of the population, the blood could not be matched to [victim's] DNA.

Id. at 142, 708 S.E.2d 774, 778. In finding that a directed verdict was appropriate, the court noted there was no evidence linking Bostick to the crime scene or to the items found in the burn pile, nor was the weapon used to beat the victim ever introduced. *Id.* at 141, 708 S.E.2d at 778. Finally, though the State had theorized that the victim, who was treasurer for her church, was killed for the money she had at her home, the court pointed out that "no evidence was introduced concerning Bostick's knowledge that [the victim] may have had money in the briefcase or if indeed any money was in the briefcase on that particular Sunday." *Id.* at 142, 708 S.E.2d at 778.

In *Arnold* the victim was shot and his body was found off a dirt road in Colleton County. 361 S.C. at 388, 605 S.E.2d at 530. The car that the victim had been driving the last day he was seen alive was recovered in Johnson City, Tennessee, and a witness testified that Arnold called him the day after the victim was shot from Arnold's father's home ten miles from where the car was found. *Id.* at 389, 605 S.E.2d at 530. Arnold's fingerprint was found on a coffee cup lid in the center console. *Id.*, 605 S.E.2d at 530. The South Carolina Supreme Court found that such evidence "raise[d] a suspicion of guilt, but [was] not evidence that the respondent killed [the victim]." *Id.* at 390, 605 S.E.2d at 531.

Appellant also cited this Court's recent decision in *State v. Lane*, 406 S.C. 118, 749 S.E.2d 165 (2013) where the Court found that a trial court erred in granting a directed verdict in a first-degree burglary case where the State presented the following evidence:

(1) the testimony of [victim's] neighbor that a burgundy/red "Mitsubishi Gallant-type car" with a paper tag and primer painted panel was in [victim's] driveway the day of the theft; (2) testimony that at times Lane drove a red/burgundy Mitsubishi Gallant belonging to his girlfriend that matched the description given by [victim's] neighbor; (3) testimony that a folded piece of paper belonging to Lane was found in [victim's] driveway that was not originally found by the police but found later outside; and (5) testimony that Lane did not want to talk to police officers the day after the theft and asked his girlfriend's mother to lie to officers concerning his whereabouts.

406 S.C. at 122, 749 S.E.2d at 168.

Appellant argues that

evidence that appellant said to Molly B. that the decedent was a snitch, and walked away making a "strange" gesture before someone (Anderson) shot the decedent was not substantial evidence of her guilt. Neither was it substantial circumstantial evidence when coupled with evidence appellant allegedly was in possession of the decedent's stolen necklace at a party three or four days later, and the fact that she had gunshot residue on her shirt.

Final Br. of Appellant at 16. However, Appellant's synopsis of the facts omits some of the most incriminating facts against her. For example, in addition to testifying that Appellant made a

strange gesture before Victim was shot, Molly B. also testified that when she pulled up in her car, Appellant was talking with a group of guys, (R. p. 94, lines 11–13). According to Molly B.’s testimony, Appellant then told Molly B. about “get[ting] somebody because somebody had snitched on somebody.”³ (R. p. 70, lines 20–21). After Molly B. spoke with Appellant, she saw Victim walking from another apartment. She then witnessed the group of guys “gang[] up” in front of her car and “com[e] together” with Appellant. (R. p. 71, lines 14–18). Molly B. looked down, heard a gunshot, and then when she looked back up, she saw a circle of four people, including Appellant, around Victim. (R. p. 71, line 25–p. 72, line 15). Molly B. saw Victim falling to the ground and everyone else running away.

Respondent submits that the State presented sufficient evidence that Appellant aided and abetted in the commission of murder and armed robbery.

Under the “hand of one is the hand of all” theory of accomplice liability, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is liable criminally for everything done by his confederate incidental to the execution of the common design or purpose. A defendant may be convicted on a theory of accomplice liability pursuant to an indictment charging him only with the principal offense. [However, mere presence and prior knowledge that a crime was going to be committed, without more, is insufficient to constitute guilt. [Rather,] presence at the scene of a crime by pre-arrangement to aid, encourage, or abet in the perpetration of the crime constitutes guilt as a principal.

State v. Gibson, 390 S.C. 347, 354, 701 S.E.2d 766, 769–70 (Ct. App. 2010) (quoting *State v. Thompson*, 374 S.C. 257, 261–62, 647 S.E.2d 702, 704–05 (Ct. App. 2007) (internal quotations

³ Molly B. testified, “she was just like something about they were about to get somebody because somebody had snitched on somebody.” (R. p. 70, lines 19–20). According to Appellant, “they” means others, Initial Br. of Appellant at 17, but Respondent would point out that based on Molly B.’s testimony it is unclear whether Molly B. was including Appellant in the “they” or not. It could be that Appellant said “we are about to get the snitch” or “they are about to get the snitch” based on Molly B.’s use of “they,” but the record does not reflect the exact words that Appellant used. It is, of course, possible that Appellant included herself in the group of people who she said were going to “get” Victim because he had snitched, but, at the very least, it is clear that Appellant was aware that the group of guys was going to “get” Victim.

and citations omitted)). Through Molly B.'s testimony, the State established both Appellant's presence at the scene and her prior knowledge of the plan to get Victim. However, Molly B.'s testimony also established Appellant's overt act toward the commission of the murder—in particular, she helped surround Victim before he was shot. As Judge Couch found, “the testimony [was] sufficient to indicate that [Appellant] may have participated in an effort to restrict the movements of the victim allegedly.” (R. p. 333, lines 7–10). Eyewitness testimony of Appellant's actions in furtherance of the murder is substantial evidence tending to prove Appellant's guilt. Thus, the trial court did not err in denying the motion for a directed verdict on the murder charge.

Respondent would further note that other evidence presented by the State corroborated Molly B.'s testimony that Appellant assisted in Victim's murder—for instance, other eyewitnesses identified a heavyset person⁴ with dreads as involved in the shooting, and there was gunshot residue found on one of Appellant's shirts. Also, other testimony established that Appellant had dreadlocks at the time of the shooting but that she shaved her head soon after the shooting. *See People v. Torres*, 179 A.D.2d 696, 696–97 (N.Y. App. Div. 1992) (“[Evidence of defendant's appearance at time of arrest] tended to show that the defendant was attempting to change his appearance in order to avoid apprehension which is relevant on the material issue of the defendant's consciousness of guilt.”).

Respondent submits that this case differs greatly from the cases cited by Appellant where the Supreme Court found that directed verdicts were warranted. In contrast to this case where eyewitness testimony established Appellant's knowledge of and involvement in Victim's murder, many of the cases cited by Appellant lacked evidence linking the defendant to the scene

⁴ One witness told police that it was a man with dreads who was involved in the shooting. Another witness was not sure if it was a man or a woman.

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